REPORT ON A PROPOSAL FOR A

NATIONAL INVESTMENT TRUST

TO PROMOTE A WIDER OWNERSHIP

OF PROPERTY

JULY 1980 -

Report on a proposal for a
National Investment Trust
to promote a wider ownership
of property

# Contents

	Paragraph No.
The proposal	1
Objectives	2 - 3
Types of scheme	4 - 11
Costs and benefits	12 - 15
A British Columbia scheme	16 - 26
A North Sea Stock	27 - 30
A National Investment Trust	31 - 37
Eligibility and administration	38 - 54
Enforcement	55 - 57
Staff and administrative cost	58 - 67
Timetuble	68 - 70
Financial and economic implications	71 - 78
Ortions	79

# PROPOSAL FOR A NATIONAL INVESTMENT TRUST

#### Proposal

 The proposal examined here is that the country's adult population should be given a free distribution of shares or stocks carrying a right to dividends from publicly owned industries or assets or to a stream of income from public revenue.

### Objectives

- 2. The objectives stated by Ministers are:-
  - to extend the scope of property-owning democracy by promoting the widespread holding of property other than home-ownership;
  - (b) to decentralise the ownership of public property.
- 3. If a scheme could be introduced which would also further the Government's policy of bringing the disciplines of private shareholdings into publicly owned industries, Ministers would regard that as an additional advantage though not an essential feature of the scheme.

# Types of Scheme

- 4. Three types of scheme have been examined.
- 5. The first is a "British Columbia" type of scheme, inspired by the creation in Ganada in 1978 of a company called the British Columbia Resources Investment Corporation (BCRIC) to which the provincial government transferred its shares in three forest product companies and in a pipeline company, together with certain Crown land and exploration rights for oil and gas.

The purposes of this measure, as described in BCRIC's literature, were to provide an investment opportunity for British Columbians and to create a new pool of investment capital owned and managed in the province. The amounts involved are as follows:-

- (a) the total value of the assets at the time of transfer was about \$150 million;
- (b) about 2 million residents of British Columbia applied for and received free shares in BCRIC;
- (c) about 40,000 of them subscribed \$487 million for additional shares in BCRIC.
- 6. BCRIC is empowered to make new investments and has done so. It still has large liquid resources from the sale of shares. Interest on the investment of this money exceeded other net revenue in the company's first year. The company paid no dividends in that year.
- 7. Special advisers have suggested the energy industries (oil, gas, coal and nuclear power) as candidates for inclusion in a scheme derived from the BCRIC precedent. They do not now suggest the inclusion of telecommunications, on which there may be other proposals.
- 8. The second scheme involves a North Sea Stock on the lines proposed in 1978 in a paper by Mr Sam Brittan and Mr Barry Riley. Under this scheme total receipts from oil royalties, Petroleum Revenue Tax (P.R.T.) and corporation tax arising from North Sea oil would be distributed to citizens of the UK from 1980 onwards. The right to this income would be transferable and would therefore have a capital value realisable in the stock market. The scheme would be administered by a National Oil Trust. Dividends on the stock would be taxable. The key figures at 1977 prices (the price basis is particularly important in a period of high inflation and

the figures on a later price basis would be much higher) were estimated in the paper as follows:-

- (a) total North Sea revenue would build up to £4,000 million by 1985;
- (b) the number of stock certificates (not allowing for the issue of certificates to people becoming adults after the start of the scheme) would be 41 million;
- (c) annual dividends would rise from something over £50 per certificate in 1980 to something under £100 in 1985, and would decline from 1990 onwards to zero in the year 2000;
- (d) the discounted capital value in 1980 on certain stated assumptions was estimated at a little over £2,000 per household of 2.3 adults.
- 9. The Brittan-Riley paper floats the idea of extending their scheme so as to include the profits (if any) of all State enterprises, but advises against doing this at the outset, for fear of jeopardising or delaying the North Sea Stock.
- 10. The third option discussed in this report is a National Investment Trust, which would be a development of the Brittan-Riley scheme, and to which some features of a British Columbia type of scheme could possibly be added.
- 11. The report is not concerned with "privatisation" schemes of the kind designed to secure the investment of private equity capital in what are now publicly owned industries, which have different objectives and in which only people who already have some investment capital can participate. The present exercise is primarily concerned with distributing capital rather than raising it.

# Costs and Benefits

12. The paper by Brittan and Riley does not exclude partial application of their idea or its introduction by stages. But if the scheme were to be credible as a general extension of property ownership, it would have to involve a minimum dividend of, say £50 per adult person per annum at 1980 prices for a period of years, or a minimum capital value of £500per head. The latter figure is not intended as the discounted value of the former, but as the kind of amount which might have a similar psychological effect.

13. The choice of figures has to be an arbitrary judgment, but any smaller dividend than this would surely seem derisory in relation to, say, the size of various social security distributions, while any smaller capital value would be paltry in relation to, say, the cost of a car or the deposit on a house. Even the figures just mentioned are not very impressive from this point of view, but they become somewhat more so if considered as £100 a year or a capital value of £1,000 per average household.

14. A scheme for paying these amounts to 40 million adult beneficiaries would require the allocation of £2,000 million a year and a large administrative apparatus involving a good many thousands of man years, whether in a new organisation or spread over existing organisations. The administrative cost would be much the same whatever the level of dividends, and that is a further reason why these benefits would have to be fairly sizeable, so as to make the organisational effort reasonably worth while.

15. Before too much time and effort is spent on the details of possible schemes, it will be sensible for the Government to consider whether they are prepared to commit themselves to the allocation of resources on the scale involved in the foreseable future. On the other hand, Ministers will be better placed to make this judgment if they have a somewhat fuller picture of what would be involved in the various possible schemes, and these are considered in turn below.

#### A British Columbia Scheme

16. The only feature common to the British Columbia scheme and the proposed North Sea stock is the free distribution of shares or stock, and this is probably the only respect in which the British Columbia scheme provides a valid precedent for the purpose of this exercise. It is important to bear in mind the objects of the exercise. BCRIC itself is mainly atmed at future development (a similar effect would be achieved by distributing shares in the National Enterprise Board) and the amount involved in BCRIC, whether in total or per head, is too small to do much to spread property ownership.

17. A UK version of BCRIC which was designed to achieve this objective would have to be on a much bigger scale and there would have to be big institutional differences. Those publicly owned industries which are constituted as public corporations are not companies; they do not have equity capital and it is not possible to create a marketable equity in them as at present constituted. This point was examined in detail in the work on British Airways, when it was decided to achieve the desired effect by creating a new company and transferring the airline's assets to it. The same approach is being adopted in the case of British Aerospace.

18. The proposed institution could therefore be endowed in one of four ways:

- (a) the Government could transfer to it their existing shareholdings in companies which they own in whole or part and their potential holdings in any companies which are to replace public corporations under present intentions;
- (b) the "British Airways method" could be applied to further public corporations in particular, the British Gas Corporation and the electricity industry - with the specific object of vesting their shares in the new institution;

- (c) the institution could be given interestbearing bonds entitling it to a stream of income from the public corporations;
- (d) it could be enabled to take part in joint ventures with the public corporations.

19. If <u>course (a)</u> were adopted, the only shares which the Government already holds or is considering acquiring and which would give the new institution a significant dividend income are the existing shares in BP and the potential holding in BNOC. The value of the potential shareholdings in British Airways and British Aerospace is problematical, while the government's shareholdings in British Leyland and Rolls Royce are more of a liability than an asset. The figures for BP and BNOC are as follows:-

### B.P.

Dividends on the publicly owned shares in BP (including those at present held by the Bank of England) may be about £200 million in 1980. No long term forecast of these dividends is available.

#### BNOC

The post-tax profits of BNOC, after meeting very large capital requirements, have been projected in its corporate plan as rising from £113 million in 1981-82 to £200 million in 1984-85 at 1980 prices. If BNOC were transformed into a company and half its shares sold - and this is understood to be one possibility which has been under consideration - the dividend on the other half retained by the government would depend on the proportion of profits distributed, but in any case could not, on these figures, exceed £100 million in 1984-85. The projections do not go beyond then.

20. Therefore, though BP and BNOC might form a useful element in a wider portfolio, they would not by themselves produce sufficient dividend to make course (a) a viable means of achieving the objective of this exercise, even if the whole of BNOC's profits, and not merely a half, were allocated for the purpose.

- 21. <u>Course (b)</u>, by casting the net wider in the public sector, would bring in a further major source of revenue, i.e. the <u>British Gas Corporation</u> (B.G.C.), whose surplus funds, whether in terms of profits or net cash flow, are estimated at over £400 million in 1984-85 at 1980 prices.
- 22. In the case of the <u>electricity</u> supply industry, whose large internal resources are at present more than accounted for by its capital expenditure, a surplus of internal resources over capital expenditure is now projected for future years as a result of planned price increases. This surplus is projected to rise to £300-£400 million by 1983-84 at 1980 prices, of which something like £200 million is shown as profit.
- 25. Thus the potential revenue from courses (a) and (b) combined, i.e. from BP, BNOC, the British Gas Corporation and the electricity supply industry, might as a very rough order of magnitude be the better part of £1 billion at 1980 prices in 1984. This could make a substantial contribution to launching a "British Columbia" scheme but would still be only a half of the minimum amount assumed to be needed, and we have no assurance about the amounts which could be produced in this way over the subsequent decade.
- 24. Moreover course (b) would involve a massive constitutional restructuring of the industries involved, and the creation of a powerful new institution. It would also give rise to important questions of control, and of pricing policy, in view of the monopoly position of BGC and the electricity boards. (The same would be true of any similar proposals with regard to the telecommunications side of the Post Office, and in addition the investment programme for telecommunications more than swallows up the industry's internally generated resources).
- 25. The feasibility of <u>course (c)</u>, i.e. the creation of prior charge bonds in BNOC and the British Gas Corporation, would depend on our being able to determine for a long enough period in advance the amount of bond interest which the two Corporations could afford to service. In the absence of any long-term projections it is assumed for the present purpose

that course (c) might yield about the same revenue as course (b). This course would have the advantage that it would not raise any new issues of control, but it would have the political and psychological disadvantage that the new institution would have no relationship with the corporations from which it was drawing interest. This arrangement would be tantamount to financing the scheme by a tax or levy on the energy industries, which might be better raised by the government and used to help finance the scheme.

26. Course (d), i.e. joint ventures, would require the investment of funds by the new institution in the first place, and would provide it with revenue only when the investments paid off. This course would not help to launch the scheme but could help to finance it in later years, and this possibility is considered further later in the report.

## A North Sea Stock

27. Courses (a) to (d) which have just been discussed are all variants of a British Columbia type of scheme. We now revert to the Brittan-Riley proposal for a North Sea Stock already summarised in paragraph 8. Hardly anything needs to be added to that summary by way of description of the scheme, which is conceptually straight-forward. Since it would be financed wholly by hypothecation or allocation of government revenue, it need not directly involve any of the publicly owned industries or give rise to any new problems of control of these industries. Because of the high percentage of the government's "take" from the North Sea, and because it is derived from all the North Sea oil fields and not merely those in which BNOC has a stake, there would be no doubt about the adequacy of the revenue available if this scheme were given priority over all other claims.

28. So far as the administration of the scheme is concerned, the Brittan-Riley paper glosses over the problems of organisation which would arise from the sheer size of the scheme and the volume of the new securities which would be created; but these problems, which are considered further in a separate section of this report, would be common to any of the schemes discussed.

29. However, one drawback which is particular to the Brittan-Riley proposal is the fact that the value of the North Sea Stock certificates would diminish with time instead of increasing. That is to say, if the capital value of a certificate in Year 1 was the discounted value of the prospective dividends in Years 1-20, in Year 2 the amount would be the discounted value of the dividends for Years 2-20, that is, one year less, and so on. Moreover, in the later years the prospective dividends would be smaller, so that the realisable value of the certificates would be further reduced.

30. The Brittan-Riley paper argues that it is a positive virtue of the scheme that the amount distributed would taper off pari passu with the decline in North Sea revenue, but its contribution to a property-owning democracy would be very ephemeral if the property started to lose value from the outset. It may be that in the event there will be large North Sea revenues for a longer period than the Brittan-Riley paper assumes, but nevertheless there must be a limit on the period ahead for which the Government could commit itself to allocating these funds for a North Sea Stock.

## A National Investment Trust

31. What follows is an attempt to see whether the Brittan-Riley scheme can be developed so as to overcome the drawback of having a North Sea Stock which would be a wasting asset. Moreover, since the scheme could not now be introduced until some time in the 1980s, rather than in 1980 itself as envisaged in the Brittan-Riley paper, a 10-year period, instead of 20 years, is assumed for the hypothecation of North Sea revenues.

32. This version of the scheme would involve the following basic features:-

- (a) A National Investment Trust would be set up.
- (b) It would be administered by National Investment Trustees. They need not constitute a non-Departmental body (or quango) since they could be appointed as part of the apparatus of

central government (perhaps as an Exchequer sub-Department) but with a special status and responsibilities in their own right, on rough analogy with the Board of Inland Revenue or the Public Trustee.

- (c) The Government would allocate to the Trust a basic £2,000 million a year at 1980 prices for 10 years.
- (d) The annual allocation would be inflation-proofed in line with an appropriate index - perhaps related to oil prices.
- (e) The Trust would issue stock certificates to about 40 million eligible adults in the UK.
- (f) Each certificate would carry an entitlement to a dividend of £50 a year at 1980 prices for 10 years.
- (g) Each annual dividend would be index-linked up to the date of payment on the same basis as in (d) above. Once paid it would not be further index-linked in line with subsequent inflation, even if kept on deposit in a Trust account.
- (h) Certificates would be transferable (ie they could be bought and sold) with accumulated interest, subject to transfers of ownership being registered.
- Dividends would be tax free, subject to an upper limit on the tax exemption for owners of more than one certificate.
- (j) A stockholder would have the option of drawing his dividend or leaving it on deposit in his Trust account.

- (k) The Trust would invest each stockholder's deposits in gilt-edged securities. Compound interest from these investments would be credited to his Trust account.
  (1) Interest would be tax-free, subject to an upper limit on the tax exemption for multiple certificate ownership, but accumulated interest would not be index-linked.
  (m) At the end of the initial 10-year period stockholders could continue to leave the sum accumulated in their
- 33. It would be possible further to develop this basic scheme so as to involve the following supplementary features:-

exempt from tax.

accounts on deposit and to earn further interest

- (n) An additional amount could be made available to the Trust in each year for 10 years, <u>either</u> from a further hypothecation of North Sea revenue <u>or</u> by transferring to the Trust the rights to dividends on publicly owned shares in, say, BP and in BNOC if the latter had been reconstituted as a company; but any right of control arising from these shareholding could in other respects be exercised by the appropriate Minister.
- (o) These funds would not be used for paying dividends in the first 10 years of the scheme but would be invested so as to yield income from year 11 onwards, out of which the Trust would pay a discretionary annual dividend.
- (p) The funds would be invested in either:-
  - joint ventures with publicly or privately owned energy industries, or
  - (ii) gilt-edged securities.

- 34. The basic scheme would have the effect of giving each citizen a savings account at no cost to himself. The element of indexation in it, and the tax exemption, would play an important part in making the scheme worthwhile and, in conjunction with the tax-free interest on sums kept on deposit, would provide an incentive to accumulate the resulting capital amount. Otherwise the objective of spreading property ownership would be frustrated. To the extent that stockholders kept their money on deposit in the Trust, either during the initial 10-year period or after it, the net outflow from the Exchequer would be reduced, though there would be a corresponding deferred liability which would have to be met if the money was later withdrawn.
- 35. The Brittan-Riley paper argues against a special tax exemption and dismisses the problems of mechanics which would be involved in making a free distribution out of tax revenue and then collecting part of it back again. But taxation of the dividends and deposits would greatly reduce the incentive to save; it would be a great complication of the tax affairs of many people who at present pay tax only on their wages under PAYE or who pay no tax at all; and it would add to the cost of a scheme which in any event would pome great administrative problems. The purpose of limiting the tax concession in the case of multiple stockholdings would be to avoid giving excessive encouragement to high tax payers to buy up additional stock from others.
- 36. If the supplementary features set out in paragraph 33 were grafted on to the scheme, this would correspondingly increase the period in which dividends could be paid to stockholders, even if at a reduced rate. If the supplementary funds made available to the Trust in this way could be invested in sources of energy for the future, and if suitable projects could be found on a scale sufficiently large for the purposes of this scheme, that would go some way to meet the argument that North Sea revenue ought to be used to make provision against the day when the oil runs out. One possibility which might be explored would be the creation of a joint company with the CEOB for the construction of nuclear

power stations; the Trust would provide the company with finance on deferred terms, to be recouped out of future sales of electricity from the power stations, while the CBGB would provide the management. A similar arrangement for coal might be considered. Any such arrangement would of course represent a relaxation of the policy of self-financing by the nationalised industries, and on present projections the electricity supply industry's planned price increases will eliminate the need for external finance in the next few years, but we are concerned here with a date some years away from the present.

37. There is no provision in this scheme for giving stockholders a right, as in the original British Columbia scheme, to buy additional stock from the Trust. One reason for this is that the Trust's objectives are so different from BCRIC's function in mobilising (rather than distributing) capital for investment in British Columbia; opportunities for bringing private capital into the public corporations are being provided by a more direct route through the plans for British Airways, British Aerospace and the National Freight Corporation, and possibly BNOC. A further important reason is that, if the Trust were to be financed wholly or mainly from an allocation of public revenue, it would be out of place to give investors a chance to buy a share of tax revenue.

# Eligibility and Administration

- 38. The Brittan-Riley paper is written in terms of a free distribution to "citizens" without going into the finer points of citizenship. The narrowest category of citizenship is "citizen of the United Kingdom and Colonics", and a natural approach would be to confine eligibility to citizens in this category resident in the United Kingdom.
- 39. But no comprehensive register or set of records has so far been identified which is compiled in these terms. Nor has any existing payments system been identified which could be used as it stands, or adapted without too much difficulty, for paying dividends on the basis of citizenship.

40. The National Insurance system, which provides both a set of records and a payments system, is geared to National Insurance contributions. It therefore excludes, for instance, housewives who do not pay contributions in their own right and various categories of people, such as many of the disabled, who have no paid employment, but it includes many people who have foreign citizenship. Moreover many of the addresses in its records in respect of past contributors will be out of date. It is not used for making payments in the course of a year to everyone in the system, but perhaps to around 10 million of them; a whole new apparatus would have to be added for the purposes of a universal payments acheme. The National Insurance system does not therefore appear to meet the present requirement either as a set of records or as a payments machinery.

- 41. The electoral registration system is the one which comes closest to the desired coverage; but it does not, of course, include a payments system, which would have to be added.
- 42. The electoral registration system is for practical purposes administered by over 400 local authorities, though each Electoral Registration Officer, who is in other respects a senior local government official, has responsibilities in his own right for the electoral arrangements and is answerable to the Courts in this matter.
- 43. The Electoral Registration Officer brings his records of those entitled to vote up to date every year through forms issued to each household in October. People of 18 or more on that date are registered as eligible to vote if they have citizenship of the Commonwealth or the Republic of Ireland and if they are normally resident at the address in question. The residential qualification is not strictly defined or interpreted and is taken to mean living at the address in question, even if for only part of the time, over a period of about six months. People with more than one place of residence can register in each place and can vote in local authority elections at each of them.

44. A piece of research carried out some years ago suggested that the electoral register was about 96% accurate when brought up-to-date each year and then lost accuracy at about a rate of 4% per month.

45. Subject to legislation, and to the co-operation of the local authorities, this machinery could be used on a repayment basis for issuing literature and application forms for the new scheme, and for collecting and vetting application forms. But the same forms could not be used both for electoral purposes and for the new scheme. The forms for this would have to be different and more detailed in a number of respects.

46. A political decision would be needed whether to exclude voters from the Commonwealth and the Republic of Ireland who were not also citizens of the United Kingdom and Colonies. (This would not in any event exclude those people from the Republic of Ireland who can acquire UK citizenship by registration after five years here). Local authorities can in some respects check the accuracy of statements made on registration forms, but there are already problems over checking the eligibility of some immigrants who are not Commonwealth citizens, and local authorities could probably not check which Commonwealth citizens were also citizens of the United Kingdom and Colonies. It would probably be necessary to take statements on this aspect on trust in the first instance.

47. Ministers would in any event need to consider whether it would be satisfactory to issue stock certificates, with a fairly substantial value and a 10-year validity, to visitors from the Commonwealth or the Republic of Ireland who might have come to the address in question just before registration date and who might then stay for only a short period - notwithstanding which they could get on to the electoral register. It would be possible, as a further condition of eligibility, to require previous residence for a period of years either at the address in question or at other addresses either in the same area or elsewhere in the United Kingdom. The local authority could probably, up to a point, check statements about residence at the same address, or even in the same area, but not statements about residence elsewhere.

48. There would be a time lag between registration and initial issue of stock certificates, and at later stages there would be further intervals of a year between annual dividend payments. As further conditions of the scheme, issue of certificates and payment of dividends could be confined to people resident in the United Kingdom at the time of issue and payment, though there would be problems about the administration of these arrangements. These conditions would not prevent the accumulation of money, which could be withdrawn later, in the Trust accounts of stockholders who served or worked overseas during the lifetime of the scheme, but would be part of the safeguards to prevent people staying in the UK purely to apply for free stock certificates and then leaving to draw the benefits from a distance.

49. It would be necessary to consider separate arrangements for enabling people from EEC countries to apply for stock certificates if they satisfied the residential qualifications. The EEC complication would be further reason for attaching to the scheme conditions about prior residence additional to those which are regarded as sufficient for electoral purposes.

50. There need not necessarily be any ban on the transfer of stock certificates by stockholders to foreigners generally (as distinct from giving them a free issue) but they would come under any rule, such as that suggested in paragraph 48, confining payment of dividends to people resident in the UK at the time.

51. This report has been written so far in terms of a once-for-all issue of stock certificates to people qualifying on a particular date. The Brittan-Riley paper raises the question whether there should be subsequent issues to people reaching the age of 18 at later dates, but leaves this question rather open. If there were one or more stock issues after the initial distribution, it would be necessary to consider extending eligibility to people who satisfied the residential

conditions by then, having failed to do so at the original date, as well as to those coming of age.

52. The Trust would of course need to have a headquarters organisation, to which the local authorities would send the application forms after they had taken the vetting process as far as they could. Subject to any further checking at the centre - eg to try to eliminate duplication of payments to applicants with more than one address - the Trust would use this material as a basis for a computerised system of Trust accounts, and for the initial issue of stock certificates. These might be accompanied by a counterfoil which could be used for drawing the first dividend through banks or post offices, with whom arrangements would have to be made for that purpose.

53. It is inherent in the scheme described here that the new securities would not be bearer certificates issued with counterfoils to cover the whole 10-year period, or perhaps on the basis that the next year's counterfoil could be drawn from the bank or post office each time that an existing counterfoil was cashed. An arrangement of that kind, though it would in some respects simplify the administration of the scheme, would conflict with the requirements of a scheme involving registration of holdings and the keeping of Trust accounts with accumulating interest. Bearer certificates not involving a registered account would also be incompatible with an arrangement for tax exemption subject to an upper limit in the case of multiple stock holdings; it would become necessary to dispense either with the limit or with the tax exemption - more probably the latter, in order to avoid accumulation of certificates by high tax payers. Bearer certificates would therefore drive us back to the pure Brittan-Riley scheme in all its simplicity but with the major drawback that, without these further features of a tax-free interest-bearing account, the stock would be a wasting asset.

54. Moreover, even with a basic Brittan-Riley scheme there would be still a great difficulty over bearer certificates because of the problems of security involved. There would be a distinct risk of loss or theft during the life of the certificates, and the loser would have no remedy or redress.

#### Enforcement

55. Every piece of mass administration involving such things as taxes or benefits or ration entitlements depends to a large extent on the average citizen's tendency to comply with the law, but every such system must also make provision to deal with a certain degree of non-compliance. Even with substantial safeguards against abuse, there will always be some percentage of cases of evasion or fraud.

56. The proposed new scheme would be without precedent as a free distribution of transferable assets with a capital value. Many households would be in possession of a fairly valuable security for the first time. There would be temptations and opportunities on a great scale for fraud and theft and probably a risk of forgery.

57. These dangers could be kept within certain limits by suitable provisions of the scheme, eg by requiring registration of sales or other transfers of stock certificates rather than by treating them as bearer bonds, and by making each year's dividend distribution a freeh operation, instead of issuing in advance counterfoils which would be useable over the whole 10-year period. But a suitable enforcement staff would also be needed, and even then the number of cases of abuse would probably be such as to attract a good deal of criticism, especially while the scheme was having its inevitable teething troubles.

#### Staff and Administrative Cost

58. The cost of maintaining the electoral register at present has been put at £14 million a year. There are no statistics of the number of local authority staff engaged on this work, which will fluctuate during the year, but enquiries suggest that it may work out at the equivalent of 3,000 full time staff a year.

- 59. Although the same facilities could up to a point be used for the new scheme, local authorities would have to undertake a great deal of additional and in some respects more difficult work if they handled the applications. There is at present no basis for an accurate estimate of the extra cost and staff requirement, but at a guess the existing staff numbers might have to be doubled or trebled for the initial operation. The size of any continuing local costs would depend on the extent of local authority involvement in, say, helping to keep the central records up to date and on decisions about further issues of stock certificates for people qualifying after the initial issue.
- 60. The cost and staff requirement of the Trust headquarters is even harder to estimate. At the initial stage, if the processing of the 40 million applications and feeding the data into the computer were spread over a whole year of about 250 working days, and eight hours a day including overtime, that would mean dealing with 160,000 applications a day and 20,000 an hour. It is impossible to say now how long it would take to process one application. If the average time were 6 minutes, 2,000 staff would be needed for the processing of applications, not allowing for leave and other absences; if the average time were 10 minutes, the number of staff on this task would be over 3,000. Administrators, legal advisers, secretarial and clerical staff, computer programmers and so on would also be needed.
- 61. Once the scheme was in operation, the bulk processing of initial applications would not recur, but there would be other tasks related to the annual distribution of dividends, transfers of holdings and such like. There could well be a continuing requirement for some thousands of Trust staff.
- 62. For comparison, the National Savings Bank at Glasgow employs 4,500 staff to deal with 22 million accounts. There are 200,000 transactions a day, giving an average of 45 transactions per head each day.

- 63. The reasons for having a computerised system of registered accounts, rather than unregistered bearer certificates, have already been set out. But even if a system of bearer certificates were adopted, and the use of a computer were eliminated, the manpower involved in the initial processing of applications and the issue of certificates by manual methods could be very large indeed.
- 64. For comparison, when the family allowance scheme was first launched in 1946 after two years preparation, the centralized handling of about 2½ million claims for the initial take-on involved 2,200 staff; when the initial phase was over this number was reduced to 1,400.
- 65. Later, when benefit for the first child was introduced, nearly 3,000 staff were recruited to deal with over 3 million initial applications from families with only one child; in subsequent years the number of staff dropped to 1,300.
- 66. If we scale these figures up for an operation involving the processing of 40 million applications and the issue of 40 million stock certificates by purely manual methods, on a purely arithmetical basis roughly 1,000 staff for every million applications a massive staff requirement emerges.
- 67. The plans for the 1981 Census of Population, estimated to require the recruitment of about 115,000 temporary staff, illustrate the numbers involved in a more concentrated exercise with universal coverage. It does not, incidentally, appear feasible to combine the census with the handling of applications for the proposed new stock certificates. The timetables involved are different, the data required are not the same, and information collected for the census may not be used for other purposes.

#### Timetable

68. From the date of taking and announcing a decision to go shead with a scheme on these lines, the main stages involved before the issue of stock certificates could take place would include the following, not necessarily in this sequence:

Stage 1	Legislation.
Stage 2	Appointment of Trustees, creation of Trust headquarters and staff.
Stage 3	Production and installation of the computer with its programme.
Stage 4	Printing and issue of application forms, collection and vetting of forms by local authorities.
Stage 5	Processing of applications at Trust headquarters.
Stage 6	Production and issue of Stock certificates and counterfoils for dividend payments.
Stage 7	Cashing of dividend counterfoils by banks and Post Office under arrangements to be negotiated.

69. Some of these pieces of work could proceed together. Trustees designate and a skeleton staff could be appointed while the legiclation was going through, and carried on the strength of the appropriate department, so as to get on with planning and consultation. There are precedents for starting to incur financial commitments on a new scheme after the Bill in question has had Second Reading, but preparations could not go beyond a certain stage until after passage of the legislation.

70. It is difficult to assess how far some of the other stages could sensibly be taken in advance of availability of the computer, and further consultation would be needed, on the basis of a fairly detailed job specification, to get a better idea how long it would take from the date of ordering the computer to get it into operation. Meanwhile, if we assume that the computer system, though capable of dealing with large batches of work, did not involve the complexities of access from a multiplicity of terminals, that preliminary design work went ahead during the passage of the Bill, and that a firm order was placed after Royal Assent, at a guess a minimum of 2-3 years

would be needed from the latter date, but it might well be longer. If all the other stages had been completed by then, this would give a minimum time lag of 3-4 years (which might well be exceeded) from announcing the scheme to starting the issue of stock certificates. If the scheme were announced in the next Queen's Speech, the first year in which there was a substantial dividend distribution might be 1984.

# Financial and Economic Implications

71. Oil revenue in 1984 and the following decade will depend on a number of variables. Among other things, the price basis will be important for this as for other financial estimates in this report.

72. The following projection of North Sea revenue up to 1983-84 at 1980-81 prices has been provided by the Treasury:

(£ billion)	1979-80	1980-81	1981-82	1982-83	1983-84
	23	4	43	64	61

This projection does not go beyond 1983-84, but it is thought that oil revenue might peak around 1985 and decline in the later 1980s and in the 1990s, but relatively slowly, so that it should still be higher in 1994 than in 1980-81.

73. The minimum requirement of £2 billion which has been postulated for this scheme will therefore be amply covered, and from one point of view the scheme could be regarded as a means of allocating the increment in North Sca revenue between now and 1984. It would, however, be in competition for the use of these funds with other objectives - reducing taxation, reducing the public sector borrowing requirement (PSBR) or relaxing the present austerity in the public services.

74. From another point of view North Sea revenue has to be regarded as part of total revenue and the financing of this scheme as one among other public expenditure claims. Whether there is £2 billion to spare in 1984 will depend not simply on this increment to North Sea revenue but on what happens to revenue and expenditure as a whole. There are also political

and presentational as well as real considerations involved in hypothecating North Sea revenue for this scheme; if the principle of hypothecation is conceded, Scottish Nationalists may be encouraged to renew their claims for North Sea revenue to be hypothecated for the exclusive benefit of Scotland, while others will argue that it should by hypothecated for funds for Britain's economic development.

75. The Brittan-Riley paper argues that their scheme would have no impact on the PSBR or the money supply "compared with tax reduction or increased public spending". There would, however, be an effect on the PSBR, with potential implications for interest rates, if the PSBR were maintained at a higher level than would otherwise be the case because of this scheme. Moreover, the capital value of the stock issue would be a multiple of the annual dividend, so that the inception of the scheme would see a substantial increase in the volume of securities which could be used for obtaining credit; this too would have to be taken into account in monetary management.

76. Under the variant of the scheme discussed in this report, to the extent that stockholders' funds were kept on deposit with the Trust and invested in government securities, to that extent the scheme would either not increase the PSBR above what it would otherwise be or, if this transaction were treated as a public sector borrowing, it would automatically provide a certain amount of financing for the PSBR, with a future repayment liability as in the case of all government debt.

77. Thus, if a decision on the scheme were to be taken now, it would be necessary to judge what the situation is likely to be in 1984 and how the Government's relative priorities are likely to appear at that time. Even if it can confidently be anticipated now that the distribution of a minimum of £2 billion a year in dividends for the scheme will be a feasible and desirable course, allowance must be made for the fact that the build-up for the scheme will begin and continue for some time in circumstances of austerity and manpower stringency.

78. If a later timetable were adopted, so that substantial payments began later than 1984, by the end of the 10-year period of dividend payments it would be the more likely that North Sea revenue was on the decline, though it could still be sufficient to cover the £2 billion. If it were relevant to the decisions to be taken that an attempt should be made to get a more considered projection of North Sea revenue in the longer term, it would be necessary to bring Inland Revenue among others into the exercise.

#### Options

79. In these circumstances, the Government will have to take a view, on the basis of this report or of further work to be carried out in the light of it, on the following questions:

- (a) Do they in principle give a higher priority in the medium and long term to a National Investment Trust or some such scheme than to reducing taxation and/or the PSBR or to relieving austerity in the public services, if resources are available for one or more of these objectives?
- (b) If not, or if they feel that the question is too hypothetical for an affirmative answer, do they consider that study of these proposals should now be discontinued, with or without issuing some document or statement to show the study so far given to the subject?
- (c) If the answer to (a) is affirmative, do they feel able to take a view now on the availability of resources in 1984 or later and to commit themselves immediately to introduction of the scheme?
- (d) Or do they feel that, however desirable the objective, present difficulties, and uncertainty about the future, preclude any commitment now?

- (e) In that case do they wish to decide now against the scheme on the grounds that the difficulties and uncertainties are unlikely to be resolved in the foreseeable future?
- (f) Or do they wish to postpone a decision for, say, one or two years, with or without some public statement and some continuing work in the meanwhile?

July 1980